IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RICHARD EUGENE HAMILTON Appellant,

VS. CASE NO: SC02-1426
Lower Tribunal No.: 94-150-CF-1

STATE OF FLORIDA Appellee.

AMENDED BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Submitted by.

Charles E. Lykes, Jr., Attorney at Law 501 S. Ft. Harrison Ave. Suite 101 Clearwater, Florida 33756 Telephone: (727) 441-8308 Florida Bar No. 291341

III. ISSUES PRESENTED

ISSUE ONE. WAS IT ERROR FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO DETERMINE THAT IT WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL FOR THE PETITIONER'S TRIAL COUNSEL TO WAIT UNTIL TWO WEEKS BEFORE THE TRIAL WAS ORIGINALLY SCHEDULED TO CONSULT A MENTAL HEALTH PROFESSIONAL, DID NOT ASK THE MENTAL HEALTH PROFESSIONAL TO EXPLORE NON-STATUTORY MITIGATING FACTORS, NOR TO ARRANGE AN INTERVIEW BETWEEN THE MENTAL HEALTH PROFESSIONAL AND PETITIONER'S FAMILY MEMBERS WHEN IT WAS CLEAR THAT PETITIONER HAD BEEN RAISED IN A DYSFUNCTIONAL FAMILY AND HAD BEEN PSYCHIATRICALLY HOSPITALIZED THROUGHOUT HIS YOUTH?

ISSUE TWO. WAS IT ERROR FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO DETERMINE THAT IT WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL FOR THE PETITIONER'S TRIAL COUNSEL TO FAIL TO PRESENT TESTIMONY FROM PETITIONER'S FAMILY MEMBERS WHO WERE PRESENT IN BROOKHAVEN, MISSISSIPPI, AT THE TIME THAT THE PETITIONER WAIVED HIS MIRANDA RIGHTS WHEN SUCHFAMILY MEMBERS WOULD HAVE CORROBORATED THE PETITIONER'S POSITION THAT HE WAS OFFERED IN BUSINESS TO MAKE HIS STATEMENT AND THAT SUCH IN BUSINESS OR CONTEMPORANEOUSLY COMMUNICATED TO SAID FAMILY MEMBERS AND WHEN THE STATE OF FLORIDA COULD HAVE SUBPOENAED, INTERVIEW, OR INVESTIGATED SAID FAMILY MEMBERS AT ANYTIME UP TO TRIAL AND COULD HAVE SECURED THEIR ATTENDANCE AT TRIAL IF DESIRED?

ISSUE THREE. WAS IT ERROR FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO DETERMINE THAT IT WAS

NOT INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL FOR THE PETITIONER'S TRIAL COUNSEL TO FAIL TO ADVISE THE PETITIONER OF HIS CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY RIGHTS TO ELECT VENUE IN EITHER OF TWO CONJUNCTIVELY CHARGED COUNTIES AND TO AGREE TO A CHANGE OF VENUE TO A THIRD COUNTY WITHOUT SEEKING A PANEL IN ONE OF THE TWO CONJUNCTIVELY CHARGED COUNTIES AND FURTHER WHEN SUCH ELECTION WOULD HAVE CLEARLY AFFORDED THE PETITIONER THE OPPORTUNITY TO SEVER HIS TRIAL FROM THAT OF HIS CO-DEFENDANT AS WELL AS TO SEVER PREJUDICIAL COUNTS AGAINST THE Appellant ALONG FROM EACH OTHER?

ISSUE FOUR. WAS IT ERROR FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO DETERMINE THAT NO PREJUDICE OCCURRED TO THE Appellant AS A RESULT OF TRIAL COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO OBJECT OR REQUEST INQUIRY AND THAT NO FURTHER INQUIRY OF JURORS WAS REQUIRED FOLLOWING CIRCUMSTANCES WHICH MADE IT CLEAR THAT THE JURORS HAD BEEN EXPOSED TO TESTIMONY PREJUDICIAL TO THE PETITIONER FROM WHICH THEY WERE MEANT TO BE EXCLUDED BECAUSE THE ATTORNEYS INVOLVED IN THE TRIAL WERE A SUFFICIENT EXPERIENCE AND RESPONSIBILITY TO HAVE TAKEN ACTION IF THERE WAS REALLY A PROBLEM?

ISSUE FIVE. WAS IT ERROR FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO DETERMINE THAT NO PREJUDICE OCCURRED TO THE Appellant AS A RESULT OF TRIAL COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO OBJECT OR REQUEST INQUIRY AND THAT NO FURTHER INQUIRY OF JURORS WAS REQUIRED FOLLOWING CIRCUMSTANCES WHICH MADE IT CLEAR THAT THE CERTAIN JURORS HAD ENGAGED IN PREMATURE DELIBERATION?

ISSUE SIX. WAS IT ERROR FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO DETERMINE THAT IT WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF Counsel FOR THE PETITIONER'S TRIAL COUNSEL TO HAVE PERMITTED THE PETITIONER'S JURY TO REMAIN IN THE COURTROOM TO HEAR THE TESTIMONY OF TROOPER LEGGETT WHICH WAS PREJUDICIAL TO THE PETITIONER AFTER THE PETITIONER'S COUNSEL HAD BEEN WARNED BY BOTH THE STATE ATTORNEY AND THE COUNSEL FOR THE CO-DEFENDANT THAT PREJUDICIAL TESTIMONY WOULD BE OFFERED BY TROOPER LEGGED AND, IN FACT, PREJUDICIAL TESTIMONY WAS OFFERED BY TROOPER LEGGED WHICH WAS EXPELLED THE TORY TO THE CO-DEFENDANT BUT INCULPATORY TO THE PETITIONER?

ISSUE SEVEN. WAS IT ERROR FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO DETERMINE THAT IT WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL FOR THE PETITIONER'S TRIAL ATTORNEY TO DECLINE THE OFFER OF THE STATE THAT THE PETITIONER SHOULD RECEIVE THE BENEFIT OF AN "INDEPENDENT ACTS" JURY INSTRUCTION WHEN THE PETITIONER HAD BEEN ACTIVELY SEEKING A "WITHDRAWAL" JURY INSTRUCTION AND NO OTHER STRIPE INSTRUCTION WAS AVAILABLE WHICH WOULD PERMIT THE JURY TO BE CONSTRUCTED BY THE COURT OF ANY THEORY BY WHICH THE PETITIONER COULD

HAVE BEEN PRESENT AT THE SCENE OF A MURDER WITH HIS CO-DEFENDANT AND NOT CRIMINALLY LIABLE FOR THE ACT OF HIS CO-DEFENDANT?

ISSUE EIGHT. WAS IT ERROR FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO DETERMINE THAT IT WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL DURING THE PENALTY PHASE OF THE PETITIONER'S TRIAL TO FAIL TO PRESENT THE PETITIONER'S MENTAL HEALTH EXPERT AND THE PETITIONER'S FAMILY MEMBERS WHO WERE MOST AWARE OF THE DYSFUNCTIONALITY OF THE PETITIONER'S CHILDHOOD FAMILY UNIT?

ISSUE NINE. WAS IT ERROR FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO PROCEED TO A FINAL DECISION IN THIS MATTER WHEN SUCH DECISION WAS NOT RENDERED UNTIL AFTER THE CASE OF <u>RAIN V. ARIZONA</u> WHEN THE PETITIONER HAD REQUESTED A CONTINUING SPENDING THE OUTCOME OF SAID DECISION AND LAND SAID DECISION WOULD HAVE RESULTED IN NEW CLAIMS AVAILABLE TO THE PETITIONER WITH RESPECT TO THE IMPOSITION OF THE DEATH PENALTY IN THE PETITIONER'S CASE?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. STATEMENT OF FACTS.

Appellant was arrested near Brookhaven, Mississippi on April 28, 1994, following a shoot out and an automobile chase with members of the Mississippi highway patrol. (R/T.V. 2671) Appellant was injured and treated for gunshot wounds and abrasions from an automobile accident. Shortly after his arrest reports were published near his family home in Greenville, North Carolina. Almost immediately members of his family, to include his father, mother, and sister immediately traveled to Brookhaven Mississippi to be of assistance.(R/H.VI.24) Appellant initially indicated that he did not wish to speak without the presence of counsel on his behalf.

The family members testified that they were aware that the Appellant was induced to speak about the missing murder victim by Mississippi law enforcement authorities who indicated that the Appellant can avoid the death penalty by cooperation with law enforcement.(R/H.VI.23-63; 78-115) Various law enforcement officials from Columbia County, Florida, had arrived in Brookhaven, Mississippi. The Appellant began to make incriminating remarks after being told that he could avoid the death penalty by cooperating.(R/H. VI.90);(R/T. XVIII. 144-145) These incriminating remarks originated in Brookhaven Mississippi and continued with Florida Sheriff's Department, Detective Russ Williams was permitted to take the Appellant, under escort, back to the crime scene and surrounding areas in order to look for the victim's remains and other items of evidence.

Appellant's mother recalls being contacted by Detective Russ Williams, who would telephone her in the presence of the Appellant. (R/H.VI.90) Detective Russ Williams would use the influence of Appellant's mother to further induce the Appellant to speak to law enforcement. Prior to Appellant's trial his trial defense counsel made a motion to suppress these pretrial statements. A hearing was scheduled and conducted relating to this issue in March, 1995.(R/T.XVII.2407-2481) The State of Florida presented all of the relevant law enforcement officers together with rights waivers forms executed by the Appellant. The Appellant then presented no evidence

other than his own testimony. None of the Appellant's family members who had been present for the initial waiver of rights and were familiar with the circumstances were called to testify at the March 13,1995, suppression hearing. Suppression of the statements was denied.(R/T.XXIV.3507)

Shortly before the Appellant's original trial date, on March 15, 1995, Appellant's trial defense attorney consulted a mental health professional with respect to the condition of the Appellant and the potential existence of a mental responsibility defense for potential mitigating factors. No previous evaluation and consultation with a mental health professional had been accomplished. In fact, Appellant's trial defense counsel did not first make a motion for appointment of a psychological expert until March 13, 1995 (R/T.XXIV.3487-3489) with the trial set to begin on March 27, 1995.(R/T.XIX.2482-2670) The mental health professional, Umesh Mhatre, M.D., rendered a report based upon a single meeting with the Appellant in which he offered the opinion that the Appellant was competent to stand trial, that he could not ascertain the existence of any mental responsibility defense, and that he could not substantiate the existence of any "statutory" mitigating factors relating to the potential sensing of the Appellant.(R/H.VII.140-146) He was not furnished with the extensive family history nor was he asked about non-statutory mitigation factors.(R/H.VII.141-146)

During the trial of the Appellant and immediately before the State of Florida

began to offer into evidence the statements and derivative evidence against the Appellant, the Appellant's trial counsel renewed the motion to suppress his pre-trial statements and offered the discovery depositions which had been taken of the Appellant's mother, father, and sister by the State. (R/T.V.546-575) The depositions had been taken as discovery by the State of Florida shortly before the trial and there had been no questioning of the witnesses by Appellant's lawyer relating to these issues. The trial court indicated that the depositions would be considered but that the ruling would not be changed. The trial court still had heard no live testimony from these witnesses nor any defense oriented examination of these witnesses with respect to the suppression of Appellant's pre-trial statements.

At the evidentiary hearing on this issue the Appellant's trial defense attorney offered that these witnesses had not been presented in person at the suppression hearing in order to avoid their availability to the State of Florida as witnesses at trial or to prevent potential contradictions between their deposition testimony and live testimony.(R/H. VII.170-173) No other valid tactical reason was offered for excluding their testimony at the suppression hearing. It was made clear from the evidentiary hearing that the family member testimony was relevant and supportive of the Appellant's motion to suppress his pre-trial statement.(R/H.VI)

Appellant was indicted for four separate crimes relating to these

events.(R/T.XX.) In one count Appellant was charged with first-degree murder of Carmen Gayhart. In another count Appellant was charged with the kidnaping of Carmen Gayhart. In another count Appellant was charged with the sexual battery of Carmen Gayhart. In a fourth count the Appellant was charged with an armed robbery of Carmen Gayhart. Each and every one of the four counts, with respect to venue, alleged that the offenses had occurred in "Columbia and/or Hamilton County" Florida. There was never a time when Appellant was ever advised of his right to elect venue by either his counsel or the court.(R/H.I.115-116)

Prior to his trial both Appellant and his co-defendant sought to sever their trials from each other and also to sever various counts of the trial from other counts charged in the indictment.(R/T. XXIV.3463-3468) All of these motions to sever either the Appellants or the various offenses were denied.(R/T. XXIV. 3601) An effort was first made to select jurors for a joint trial of both defendants and all counts in Hamilton County, Florida. It soon became clear that there was very little chance of selecting two qualified juries in Hamilton County, Florida.(R/T. XIX. 2655-2670) Ultimately, all counsel and the court came to an agreement that no effort would be made to pick a jury in Columbia County, Florida, and that another venue would be used. The trial court selected and, with the approval of the Florida Supreme Court, moved the venue of the trial to Clay County, Florida.(R/T. XXV.3676)

At no time did the Appellant's trial defense lawyer make a specific request for severing the offenses from each other or his trial from that of his co-defendant based upon either Art. I, §16 of the Florida Constitution or Florida Statute §901.305 relating to venue. Additionally, Appellant's trial defense lawyer never informed the Appellant of his right to severance of the offenses from each other based upon the venue allegations used in his from indictment. All parties thereon proceeded to trial in Clay County, Florida.

Two juries were selected from Clay County, Florida, and a joint trial with the two separate juries was commenced on May 15, 1995.(R/T.I) Each of the two juries were to be kept separate from the other so that potential violations of the <u>Bruton</u> Rule could be avoided. The juries were managed by Thomas Slattery and Mark Lowe as bailiffs.(R/H.VII.157-159) Slattery was a reserve deputy and Lowe has been a corrections deputy. Neither had ever served as a courtroom bailiff before.(R/H. VII.199; R/H.VII.156)

On the day of the trial the Appellant's trial defense attorney had renewed the motion to suppress Appellant's pretrial statement as described above.(R/T.V.546) The juries were excused to the deliberation room and an evidentiary hearing was conducted. Following the hearing the juries were brought back in to the court room and the trial continued. On the following day the Appellant's jury was again excused

to the deliberation room for an additional evidentiary hearing. As had occurred with the motion to suppress hearing, additional matters were presented which were both inadmissible and prejudicial to the Appellant's case.

On the fifth day of trial it was again necessary to excuse the jury to the deliberation room for the conduct of proceedings out of their presence. The trial court inquired of the Bailiff as to whether the jury could hear courtroom events while in the deliberation room. The record reflects that a Bailiff responded that they could hear when the court room microphones were turned on.(R/T.VII.771-772) Accordingly, the trial court directed that the microphones be turned off during such hearings in the future. No inquiry was made by Appellant's counsel or by the court with respect to what had been overheard by the jurors (in particular the jury of the Appellant) during the two previous hearings in which the jury was in the deliberation room and to be excluded from courtroom proceedings. During the evidentiary hearing the State sought to excuse this by establishing the wealth of legal experience in the room at the time and by theorizing that so many experienced lawyers would not have allowed the Appellant to be unfairly prejudicial.(R/H.VII.210-211)

Early in the case the State of Florida presented a Mississippi Highway Patrol Trooper Leggett.(R/T III.450) Trooper Leggett was also effectively adopted as a witness by the co-defendant, Wainwright regarding an incriminating statement by

Appellant. Prior to eliciting this testimony both counsel for the State and counsel for the co-defendant called a bench conference for the purpose of warning Appellant's counsel that Trooper Leggett would be asked questions which would result in prejudicial answers to the Appellant. Appellant's trial defense attorney chose to allow Appellant's jury to remain in the courtroom Accordingly, Appellant's jury was exposed to testimony relating to the Appellant making of statements consistent with guilt and acknowledgment of the likelihood of a death sentence. There was no material or evidence of benefit to the Appellant presented by Trooper Leggett either in his direct examination or in any cross-examination by either defense counsel

Following the testimony of the medical examiner utilized in the Appellant's trial the Appellant's Uncle, Donnie Simmons, overheard at least two of Appellant's jurors discussing the qualifications of the medical examiner.(R/H VI.116-27) Appellant's trial defense attorney raised this issue with the court but did not request any individual inquiry of the members of the Appellant's jury in order to discover or ascertain whether premature deliberations of the Appellant's case had been occurring during the presentation of the State's case. Accordingly, the record does not document to what extent premature deliberation had occurred. Accordingly, from the record it can only be clearly ascertained that such premature deliberation had been taking place. The extent of such premature deliberation cannot be ascertained.

During the charge conference the Appellant had sought a special jury instruction with respect to the defense of withdrawal. After substantial argument and presentation of numerous authorities on this issue the trial court determined that the withdrawal instruction was not appropriate and would not be given.(R/T XIV.1912-3) During argument the State of Florida offered that the "independent acts" instruction would have been appropriate and agreeable to the State of Florida.(R/T XIV.1912) The trial defense attorney did not accept the invitation of the State of Florida to have this instruction given even after it had become clear that the trial court would not give the "withdrawal" instruction. Consequently, no instruction was given to the jury from which they could have understood the possibility that the co-defendant, Anthony Wainwright, may have been solely and independently responsible and guilty of the homicide of Carmen Gayhart.

Following the conviction of the Appellant to all of the counts of the indictment a sentencing phase was conducted.(R/T.XVI) Appellant only presented the testimony of a former employer and two family members, Appellant's brother, and Appellant's uncle. The Appellant's mother, father, and sister were not presented. There was no testimony offered from Dr. Umesh Mhatre. It was known to Appellant's trial counsel that Appellant had suffered from a dysfunctional childhood and family life.(R/T.VIII.189-195 and referenced exhibits) It was also known that Appellant had

suffered from recurring mental health problems and had been involuntarily hospitalized for mental health illnesses on more than one occasion during his life. It was also known that Appellant had been on prescription painkillers for several years during his childhood. None of this was presented to the jury.

Prior to deliberating in the penalty phase, Appellant's jury was instructed regarding the law and their decision. They were instructed that their verdict was merely advisory.(R/T.XVI.2140-7) They were not instructed that their decision must be unanimous nor that they had to specifically determine that some single aggravating factor had been proven beyond reasonable doubt and by unanimous vote. By an apparent vote of 10 - 2 (although this was incorrectly published by the Clerk) the jury recommended death (R/T XVI.2148) and this was ultimately the sentence of the Court.

Shortly before Appellant's evidentiary hearing was to be conducted Appellant learned that Linroy Bottoson had been granted a stay of execution by the United States Supreme Court, Bottoson v. Moore, 234 F.2d 526 (11th Cir.,2000) Appellant's counsel initially believed that the stay may have been for reasons which had previously been the subject of Bottoson's appeal to the Eleventh Federal Circuit. These were similar to some issues in the Appellant's case. Appellant requested to continue the proceeding pending this decision. The State of Florida offered that the reasons for the stay granted to Linroy Bottoson were related to the case of Ring v. Arizona, 122

S.Ct. 2428,153 (R/H) Appellant offered that, under either circumstance, his hearing should be postponed and also that any final decision in his case at the trial court should be postponed pending resolution of these matters. The trial court declined any continuance and proceeded to the evidentiary hearing. Following the evidentiary hearing the trial court directed the submission of proposed orders within 75 days of receipt of the record. Appellant renewed the request for a continuance until the matters raised by Ring v. Arizona, 122 S. Ct. 2428,153 (2002) had been fully resolved. This was again denied and a final order was rendered. The final order is essentially that proposed by the State. (R/H.II. 291-296) This appeal is taken from that order.

B. PRIOR PROCEEDINGS.

The Appellant was charged by indictment with four separate criminal acts. Such included kidnaping, violent sexual assault, armed robbery, and murder in the first degree.(R/T. XXX. 2671-2672) The indictment with respect to each count alleged that the criminal acts occurred in Columbia and/or Hamilton County Florida. The Appellant was to be tried with his co-defendant, Anthony Wainwright, in a joint trial with the separate juries for each defendant in Columbia County, Florida. When a jury could not be selected in Columbia County, Florida, the trial was moved to Clay County, Florida, and was conducted between May 15, 1995 and June 1, 1995.

Appellant and his co-defendant were each convicted of all counts of the

indictment. Appellant Hamilton's jury, apparently by a vote of 10-2, recommended that the death penalty be imposed on June 1, 1995. (R/T.XXVII.4106) the trial court, upon consideration of all evidence and argument of counsel, sentenced the Appellant to death on June 12, 1995. (R/T.XXVII. 4132-4146)

Appellant appealed the judgment and sentence of this court to the Florida Supreme Court which denied the Appellant's appeal. Appellant timely appealed to the United States Supreme Court and his petition for a *writ of certiorari* was denied on June 26, 1998.

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