IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RICHARD EUGENE HAMILTON,

Appellant,

V.

Case No. SC02-1426

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee,

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR HAMILTON COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

GARY MILLIGAN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 059617

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY
GENERAL
PL-01, THE CAPITOL
TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050
(850) 414-3300
(850) 487-0997 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

offered the have the independent act instruction read to the jury, and actually demonstrates that the prosecutor would have argued against that instruction as well.

Accordingly, the State would contend that trial counsel was not ineffective in this case for failing to accept an alleged offer to give the independent act instruction because the prosecutor never made such an offer. Furthermore, it seems clear from the prosecutor's argument that he would have also challenged independent act instruction if it had been requested.

Additionally, it should be noted that the independent act instruction was even less applicable to the present case, and the Defendant would have been less likely to have received this instruction. The independent act doctrine requires that the Defendant not have participated in the crime at issue and that it "fall outside of, and [be] foreign to, the common design of the original collaboration." Ray v. State, 755 So. 2d 604, 609 (Fla. 2000), quoting, Dell v. State, 661 So. 2d 1305, 1306 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995). The withdrawal defense, on the other hand, required that the Defendant show "that he abandoned and renounced his intention to kill the victim and that he clearly communicated his renunciation to his accomplices in sufficient time for them to consider abandoing the criminal plan." Hamilton v. State, 703 So. 2d 1038, 1042 (Fla. 1997).

In the present case, the only evidence supporting the instructions are the Defendant's self-serving statements to police saying that he wanted to let the victim go. Id. at 1043. This Court found that evidence insufficient to require that the withdrawal instruction be given. This evidence would be even less likely to establish that the Defendant did not participate in the crime and that it was outside of and foreign to the common design of their original collaboration. Moreover, the evidence in this case demonstrated that the Defendant, at best, did nothing more than say he did not want to kill the victim, while he helped hide the body, shot at the police when they tried to stop the defendants, and was part of a common scheme to escape from prison, steal a vehicle, guns and not to be captured.

Trial counsel recognized that this defense was less likely to be successful, thus he focused on the withdrawal defense. As set forth above, trial counsel stated, "[q]uite candidly, I considered requesting an instruction on independent acts, but reached a conclusion that under the circumstances as disclosed by the evidence brought forward in this case, the defense of independent acts simply do (sic) not apply." (R. 1913). Trial counsel was correct in this assessment. Florida courts have repeatedly held that similar facts do not warrant this

instruction. See Lovette v. State, 636 So.2d 1304 (Fla. 1994)(rejecting independent act instruction where murders committed to lessen possibility of detection and apprehension of robbers); Parkers v. State, 458 So.2d 750 (Fla. 1984)(holding that defendant who participated in kidnaping as part of effort to terrorize victim into paying his portion of drug debt to defendant could not claim that cofelon's murder of victim was an independent act); Ray v. State, 755 So.2d at 609 (rejecting independent act instruction where murder facilitated escape from robbery scene); Dell v. State, 661 So.2d 1305, 1306 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995)(holding independent act instruction inapplicable where evidence demonstrated that murders of store clerks were meant to eliminate the only eyewitnesses to robbery).

Thus, it seems extremely unlikely that the Defendant would have been able to successfully argue for the independent act instruction when the trial court had already denied the more applicable withdrawal instruction.

As this Court has said many times, trial counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to raise an issue which is without merit. Lawrence v. State, 2002 WL 31317967 *11 (Fla. 2002), citing, Kokal v. Dugger, 718 So.2d 138, 142 (Fla. 1998). In the present case, in light of the rulings by the trial court and this Court as to the withdrawal instruction, the Defendant could

not have successfully argued for the independent act instruction. Accordingly, trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to raise this issue because it was without merit.

Finally, the Defendant has failed to demonstrate prejudice as required by <u>Strickland</u>. As this Court held in regard to the denial of the withdrawal instruction, the Defendant's defense was inconsistent with instruction. Furthermore, given the strength of the evidence demonstrating the Defendant's involvement in escaping from prison, stealing the first car, stealing guns, abducting the victim and stealing her car, raping her, hiding her body, fleeing to Mississippi, and then shooting it out with police when facing potential arrest, any potential error in this case was harmless and the Defendant has failed to show the requisite prejudice necessary for ineffective assistance of counsel.

VIII. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT REVERSIBLE ERROR IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S CLAIM OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF TRIAL COUNSEL BASED ON THE TACTICAL DECISION NOT TO CALL DR. MHATRE AND CERTAIN FAMILY MEMBERS DURING THE PENALTY PHASE.

In his eighth claim the Defendant argues that his trial counsel was ineffective for not calling the psychiatrist, Dr. Mhatre, and the Defendant's sister, mother and father to testify during the penalty phase. The testimony presented at the

evidentiary hearing does not support his claim.

At the hearing, the Defendant presented the testimony of all three family members - his father, mother and sister - who did not testify for him at his penalty phase. As set forth in section (4) of the Statement of Facts from the Evidentiary Hearing, the family members testified that the Defendant grew up in a bad neighborhood. His father worked the night shift and his mother and father argued over discipline. At age 10, the Defendant was shot in the eye with a BB gun and had to undergo several surgeries and take pain medications. Both before and after this incident, the Defendant used drugs and alcohol.

Trial counsel, however, made a tactical decision not to call these family members. This decision was based on a number of factors. First, as to the Defendant's mother, Jewel Neal, there were problems because she had a history of mental health problems (including being institutionalized twice), she was on heavy medication and had made unfavorable comments about the Defendant, i.e. there not being a lot of mitigation about the Defendant. (EH. 104-10, 205). The mother also admitted that the Defendant threatened his brother with a gun and then hit him, breaking his shoulder, and that the Defendant placed a knife to

⁸/ The Defendant's brother and cousin also testified at the hearing. However, both of them were called on behalf of the Defendant during the penalty phase. (R. 2070, 2081).

her stomach, drawing blood. (EH. 111-12). More importantly, however, when it came time to testify, the mother and her psychiatrist began contacting trial counsel telling him that if he tried to bring the mother to testify, the psychiatrist would have her committed. (EH. 107, 205).

The sister raised concerns because the Defendant had made inculpatory statements to her which were not admitted into evidence but would have come out at the penalty phase. (EH. 172). She also testified that she did not want to testify at Hamilton's trial because she was pregnant and feared a miscarriage. (EH. 41-44).

This unwillingness is important because it can strongly impact the effectiveness of a penalty phase witness. This problem also arose with the father who came to the trial and was available for the penalty phase. However, the father had likewise attempted to get out of appearing. He called trial counsel and said that he did not want to come because his wife was unwilling. (EH. 206). The father eventually did show up, but he was so mad that trial counsel decided not to use him as a witness. (EH. 206).

This Court has previously noted that such lack of cooperation can in itself render trial counsel's decision to not call witnesses reasonable. In <u>Gorby v. State</u>, 819 So.2d 664,

674-75 (Fla. 2002), counsel chose not to call the Defendant's father to testify at the penalty phase because his testimony was cumulative and he had "very little, if any, interest in assisting with his son's case." This Court found that counsel's decision not to use the father was a reasonable tactical decision and that counsel was not ineffective. Id. This case presents similar circumstances. Trial counsel was faced with uncooperative or unavailable witnesses whose testimony would had been essentially the same as the cooperative witnesses who actually testified, i.e. the brother, cousin and Mrs. Baker. Thus, based on Gorby alone, trial counsel's decision was reasonable.

Additionally, it should be noted that trial counsel's decision was an informed one. He had talked to all of the family members prior to the trial and knew what their testimony would be. Both the father and sister confirmed these conversations. (EH. 36, 40-41, 56-58). Furthermore, trial counsel was aware that he had the testimony of the Defendant's brother and cousin, as well as Ann Baker, the mother of a former girlfriend, which would establish all of the same facts to which the other witnesses could have testified, but without the potential problems. (EH. 2070, 2081, 2095). Thus, trial counsel made a tactical decision to use witnesses who did not

create a potential problem for his penalty phase case, while still being able to testify to all of the factors which were potential mitigation for the Defendant. Accordingly, this case is similar to others where counsel were found to have made adequate investigations and reasonable choices. See e.g., Sweet v. State, 810 So. 2d 854 (Fla. 2002); Stewart v. State, 801 So.2d 59, 67 (Fla. 2002); Rutherford v. State, 727 So.2d 216, 226 (Fla. 1998).

The Defendant has also failed to show how trial counsel's representation prejudiced him. As discussed above, the Defendant's cousin, his brother Tim, and Ann Baker, the mother of a former girlfriend, testified on his behalf. Based on their testimony, the trial court found that five non-statutory mitigators had been established: (1) Hamilton was raised in a drug-ridden, crime infested neighborhood; (2) Hamilton's mother was mentally ill; (3) Hamilton suffered various childhood traumas, including the loss of an eye in a BB gun accident; (4) Hamilton had been gainfully employed and had good work habits; and (5) Hamilton assisted police in locating the victim's body. (R. 4166-67). These are essentially the same mitigators which the father, mother and sister could have testified to, and their testimony at the evidentiary hearing did not establish any statutory mitigators. Thus, the testimony of the father, mother

and sister would have been merely cumulative to that introduced at sentencing.

It is not error for trial counsel to make a tactical decision to not present such cumulative testimony. In <u>Gundinas v. State</u>, 816 So.2d 1095, 1105-06 (Fla. 2002), this Court found no error when trial counsel declined to present the testimony of the Defendant's aunt when her testimony would have been essentially cumulative. Likewise, in <u>Atwater v. State</u>, 788 So.2d 223, 234 (Fla. 2001), this Court found that it was not error to forego the testimony of Defendant's family members when it was cumulative to the testimony of an expert witness, even though that evidence was only presented as hearsay through the expert. Accordingly, the fact that the father, mother and sister's testimony would have been cumulative to the other witnesses' testimony renders trial court's decision reasonable and negates any potential prejudice.

Finally, given the six strong aggravators established by the state (under sentence of imprisonment; prior violent felony; felony murder; hinder law enforcement; heinous, atrocious, or cruel; and cold, calculated, and premeditated), the overwhelming inculpatory evidence, the jury's recommendation of death, and the paucity of the mitigation, no different result could have been obtained. Porter v. State, 788 So.2d 917 (Fla. 2001);

Cherry v. State, 781 So.2d 1040 (Fla. 2000); Johnson v. State, 769 So.2d 990 (Fla. 2000). This claim, therefore, should be denied.

The Defendant also argues that his trial counsel was ineffective for not calling Dr. Mhatre to testify about his family history and mental health mitigation in the penalty phase. However, trial counsel's decision not to call Dr. Mhatre was a considered and tactical one. The facts and arguments supporting trial counsel's decision are the same as those more fully discussed in Argument #1 above.

IX. THE UNITED STATES SUPREME DECISION IN RING V. ARIZONA DOES NOT INVALIDATE THE DEFENDANT'S SENTENCE OF DEATH.

In his final argument, the Defendant contends that his sentence should be vacated based on the United States Supreme Court's ruling in Ring v. Arizona, - U.S.-, 122 S.Ct. 2428, 153 L.Ed.2d 556 (2002). The Defendant claims that Florida's capital sentencing scheme violates Ring, that it applies retroactively to his case, and that this Court's recent decision in Bottoson v. Moore, 813 So. 2d 31 (Fla. 2002), cert. denied, 122 S. Ct. 2670 (2002) establishes that the Defendant is entitled to relief.

RETROACTIVITY

The Defendant's claim that this issue applies to him retroactively is without merit. As an initial matter, it should be noted that the Defendant's claim under Ring is also procedurally barred. A Ring claim is based on a Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial and, as such, it should be raised on direct appeal, not in post-conviction litigation. McCoy v. United States, 266 F.3d 1245, 1258 (11th Cir. 2001)(holding that an Apprendi claim was procedurally barred in a § 2255 petition because the claim was not raised on direct appeal); State ex rel. Nixon v. Sprick, 59 S.W.3d 515, 520 (Mo. 2001)(holding that Apprendi claims are procedurally barred if not asserted on direct appeal).

Furthermore, the Defendant is also incorrectly claiming that Ring should be applied to him retroactively. Ring is based on the United States Supreme Court's decision in Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000), which has been repeatedly held to not be retroactive. Florida's First District Court of Appeal has held that Apprendi is not retroactive in a non-capital case. See Hughes v. State, 826 So.2d 1070 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002)(holding that Apprendi is not retroactive but certifying the issue to the Florida Supreme Court). Numerous federal circuit courts of appeal have held

that <u>Apprendi</u> is not retroactive. Moreover, the United States Supreme Court has refused to apply the right to jury trial cases retroactively in the past. <u>DeStefano v. Woods</u>, 392 U.S. 631, 633, 88 S.Ct. 2093, 2095, 20 L.Ed.2d 1308 (1968)(holding that the right to jury trial in state prosecutions was not retroactive and "should receive only prospective application.").

The United States Supreme Court also recently held that an Apprendi claim is not plain error. United States v. Cotton, 122 S.Ct. 1781 (May 20, 2002)(holding an indictment's failure to include the quantity of drugs was an Apprendi error but did not rise to level of plain error). If an error is not plain error, the United States Supreme Court will not find the error of sufficient magnitude to allow retroactive application of such a claim in collateral litigation. See United States v. Sanders,

⁹ United States v. Sanders, 247 F.3d 139, 146-51 (4th Cir.
2001), cert. denied, 122 S.Ct. 573 (2001)(explaining that
because Apprendi is not retroactive in its effect, it may not be
used as a basis to collaterally challenge a conviction); Curtis
v. United States, 294 F.3d 841 (7th Cir. 2002) (holding Apprendi
is not retroactive because it is not a substantive change in the
law; rather, it "is about nothing but procedure" and it is not
fundamental because it is not even applied on direct appeal
unless preserved); United States v. Brown, 305 F. 3d 304 (5th
Cir. 2002); Goode v. United States, 305 F. 3d 378 (6th Cir.
2002), citing, Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 15 (1999);
United States v. Moss, 252 F.3d 993, 1000-1001 (8th Cir. 2001),
cert. denied, 122 S.Ct. 848 (2002); United States v. Sanchez-Cervantes, 282 F.3d 664, 667 (9th Cir. 2002); McCoy v. United
States, 266 F.3d 1245, 1258 (11th Cir. 2001).

247 F.3d 139, 150-151 (4th Cir. 2001)(because <u>Apprendi</u> claims have been found to be subject to harmless error, a necessary corollary is that <u>Apprendi</u> is not retroactive). 10 Accordingly, because <u>Ring</u> is not retroactive, the <u>Ring</u> claim raised by the Defendant in the present case is barred.

DEFENDANT'S ARGUMENTS

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